Long Double-Stranded RNA-Mediated Suppression of PER2 in the SCN Disrupts Circadian Locomotor Activity and PER2 Rhythms in the Limbic Forebrain

Alex M. Gavrila

A Thesis

in

The Department of

Psychology

Presented in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts at

Concordia University

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

January 2008

© Alex M. Gavrila, 2008



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-40828-5 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-40828-5

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



ABSTRACT

Long Double-Stranded RNA-Mediated Suppression of PER2 in the SCN Disrupts

Circadian Locomotor Activity and PER2 Rhythms in the Limbic Forebrain

Alex M. Gavrila

Studies with targeted disruption in the Period2 (Per2) gene suggest that the PER2 protein participates in the regulation of circadian behavioral rhythms. Moreover, it has been shown that direct suppression of PER2 expression in the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) with antisense oligonucleotides disrupts photic resetting of the SCN clock. The effect of such suppression on behavioral rhythms is unknown. Here double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) to Per2 was used to transiently suppress PER2 expression in the SCN of adult rats. Bilateral infusions of dsRNA into the SCN (6 µg/side) disrupted circadian wheel running activity rhythms for up to 10 days in experimental rats housed in constant darkness; whereas, control infusions into the SCN or dorsal infusions of dsRNA to Per2 had no effect. Relative to controls PER2 suppression in the SCN was evident 12 days post-dsRNA infusion; however, maximal suppression was observed at day 3. In addition to the suppression of PER2 expression in the SCN, a blunted PER2 rhythm was observed in the oval nucleus of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, central nucleus of the amygdala and dentate gyrus. These results provide direct evidence that the expression of PER2 in the SCN is essential for the maintenance of circadian locomotor activity rhythms and for the expression of PER2 rhythms in the limbic forebrain in rats. The specificity of this effect was validated by demonstrating no difference between cFos expression in any of the above areas in control rats and rats treated with dsRNA to Per2.

iii

Acknowledgements

First of all, I wish to thank my supervisor, Dr. Shimon Amir for his guidance. His support throughout the writing and research component of this thesis was invaluable. Great thanks also goes to Barry Robinson for teaching me everything I needed to know, and more, about the various procedures and surgeries involved in all the experiments covered in the present thesis. I would also like to thank Lauren Segall for her valuable insight regarding molecular processes. Additionally, I would like to thank Valerie Harbour and Michael Verwey for always being available to discuss circadian rhythms and experimental findings.

I am also thankful to Dr. Wayne Brake and Dr. Jim Pfaus for serving on my defence committee. Furthermore, I would like to thank Stephanie Tobin for her help with the statistics and the review of this thesis. Finally, I would like to thank my family. Without the constant support of my mother Elena, my father Mircea, and my sister Simona this thesis would not have been possible.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LISTS OF FIGURESvii
INTRODUCTION1
The suprachiasmatic nucleus and light entrainment
Feedback loops and clock genes4
Mutant experiments
Gene silencing with antisense oligonucleotides6
RNA interference
Rationale and objectives9
METHOD10
Subjects10
Apparatus10
Procedure11
dsRNA synthesis12
dsRNA reconstitution12
Surgery and injections12
Perfusions13
Immunocytochemistry14
Data analysis15
Behavior15
Brain15
Experiment 115
Experiment 216

Experiment 316
RESULTS17
Experiment 117
Behavior in constant darkness17
Constant darkness and light/dark cycle reversal19
Experiment 219
Behavior19
PER2 Immunocytochemistry22
Dorsal controls27
Experiment 327
Behavior27
PER2 Immunocytochemistry27
cFos Immunocytochemistry30
DISCUSSION
REFERENCES40
APPENDICES49
APPENDIX A: Experiment 2 PER2 ANOVA Tables50
APPENDIX B: Experiment 3 PER2 ANOVA Tables55
APPENDIX C: Experiment 3 cFos ANOVA Tables

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Representative double-plotted (48 hr) actograms showing wheel running
	activity rhythms before and after bilateral intra-SCN infusions of (A) long
	dsRNA to <i>Per2</i> or (B) control solution (β-globin)18
Figure 2.	Representative double-plotted actograms showing wheel running activity
	rhythms before and after bilateral intra-SCN infusions as well as post-
	infusion light entrainment
Figure 3.	Double-plotted actograms showing wheel running activity in rats killed
	three, six or 12 days after bilateral intra-SCN infusions of (A) dsRNA to
	<i>Per2</i> or (B) control solution (β-globin)21
Figure 4.	Photomicrographs showing examples of PER2 immunoreactivity in the
	SCN (unilaterally) in rats killed at ZT13 three, six or 12 days after intra-
	SCN infusions of (A) dsRNA to Per2 or (B) control solution
	(β-globin)23
Figure 5.	PER2 immunoreactive nuclei (Means $\pm SE$) in the (A) SCN and (B)
	BNST-ov in rats killed at ZT13 three $(n = 8)$, six $(n = 8)$ or 12 days
	(n = 8), after bilateral intra-SCN infusions of dsRNA to <i>Per2</i> (white bars)
	or control solution (β-globin; gray bars)24
Figure 6.	Mean number of PER2 immunoreactive nuclei (\pm SE) in the (A) CEA and
	(B) DG in rats killed at ZT13 three $(n = 8)$, six $(n = 8)$ or 12 days $(n = 8)$,
	after bilateral intra-SCN infusions of dsRNA to Per2 (white bars) or
	control solution (β-globin; gray bars)26
Figure 7.	Double-plotted actograms showing wheel running activity in dorsal

vii

- Figure 8. Photomicrographs showing examples of PER2 immunoreactivity in the
 SCN (unilaterally) in rats killed at ZT1 and ZT13, six days after intra-SCN infusions of (A) dsRNA to *Per2* or (B) control solution (β-globin)......29
- Figure 9. PER2 immunoreactive nuclei (Means $\pm SE$) in the (A) SCN, (B) BNST-ov, (C) CEA and (D) DG in rats sacrificed at ZT1 (n = 8) or ZT13 (n = 8), six days after bilateral intra-SCN infusions of dsRNA to *Per2* (white bars) or control solution (β -globin; gray bars)......31
- Figure 10. Photomicrographs showing examples of cFos immunoreactivity in the
 SCN (unilaterally) in rats killed at ZT1 and ZT13, six days after intra-SCN
 infusions of (A) dsRNA to *Per2* or (B) control solution (β-globin)......32

Introduction

Since the beginning of the Cambrian era, which took place over 500 million years ago, the length of the Earth's day has been roughly 24 hours (Tauber, Last, Olive, & Kyriacou, 2004). Over the eons, all life forms on Earth, from the smallest prokaryotic bacteria to the largest and most complex eukaryotic organisms, have adapted and learned to incorporate, to the best of their ability, these daily cycles, or circadian rhythms, which are in part a response to daylight or dark. However, environmentally-determined cyclical oscillations, such as changes in daylight, temperature, and availability of food, serve primarily to refine and adjust physiologically-determined circadian rhythms: In the absence of these external cues, the internal rhythms gradually drift out of phase with the environment (Yamazaki, et al., 2000). The most evident of these biological rhythms is the sleep-wake cycle but there are other equally-important rhythms as well: locomotoractivity rhythms, daily internal temperature fluctuations, hormone secretion, protein synthesis and apoptosis to name a few (Lowrey & Takahashi, 2000).

Extensive research on *rattus norvegicus* (Kramer & Poort, 1971), *mus musculus* (Abraham et al., 2006), *phodopus sungorus* (Antle, LeSauteur, & Silver, 2005; Hoffmann, Illnerová, & Vanecěk, 1981), *arvicanthis ansorgei* (Caldelas, Poirel, Sicard, Pevet, & Challet, 2003), *pan troglodytes* (Anestis & Bribiescas, 2004) and *homo sapiens* (Roenneberg, Kumar, & Merrow, 2007) has shown that mammals have a lightentrainable central pacemaker, located in the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) of the hypothalamus. The SCN synchronizes all other circadian oscillators in the brain and the periphery which ultimately give rise to behavioral and physiological rhythms (Albrecht, in press; Lowrey & Takahashi, 2000). Despite great strides made in the field of circadian

research in recent years, the mechanisms through which the SCN entrains subordinate oscillators are still poorly understood (Reppert & Weaver, 2002). While measuring the rhythmic expression of the clock protein PERIOD2 (PER2), our laboratory has uncovered circadian oscillators in the oval nucleus of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST-ov), central nucleus of the amygdala (CEA), basolateral amygdala (BLA) and dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (DG; Amir, Lamont, Robinson, & Stewart, 2004; Lamont, Robinson, Stewart, & Amir, 2005).

Studies in mutant mice with targeted disruption in the *Per2* gene suggest that the PER2 protein participates in the regulation of circadian behavioral rhythms (Zheng, et al., 1999). In fact, a number of studies reported complete circadian arrhythmicity in Per1/Per2 double mutant mice (Albrecht, Zhend, Larkin, Sun, & Lee, 2001; Zheng, et al., 1999). Mutant studies are limited when one is looking for specific gene silencing because the genes of interest are knocked out in virtually all cells of the organism and there are numerous developmental confounds. Other studies have used antisense oligonucleotides (ODNs) in order to induce temporary Per2 gene silencing in cultured SCN neurons (Sugiyama, Yoshioka, & Ikeda, 2004). Wakamatsu and colleagues (2001) have transiently suppressed Per2 gene expression in mice by repeatedly performing unilateral ODNs microinjections into the lateral ventricle. Although this showed that suppression of *Per2* can lead to changes in locomotor activity, evidence for a direct link between circadian rhythms in behavior and PER2 expression in the SCN is lacking. While ODNs are able to successfully suppress gene expression, their effect is short lasting and lacks specificity (Kurreck, 2003). The purpose of this thesis is to elucidate the role of PER2 in the SCN by investigating the transient suppression of *Per2* expression

in the SCN of adult rats using long double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) to *Per2*, which is longer-lasting and has greater specificity than antisense ODNs.

The suprachiasmatic nucleus and light entrainment

In mammals, the focal point of the circadian system is located in the SCN, a small bilateral structure of the anterior hypothalamus containing approximately 10,000 neurons per hemisphere, which is commonly referred to as the master clock (Reppert & Weaver, 2002; Stephan & Zucker, 1972; van den Pol, 1980). This is the case because it has been shown that lesioning the SCN results in complete loss of circadian rhythms (Abe, Kroning, Greer, Critchlow, 1979). Furthermore, it has also been shown that surgically transplanted fetal SCN tissue was able to fully restore behavioral rhythms in animals whose SCN had previously been lesioned (Ralph, Foster, Davis, & Menaker, 1990). Moreover, Guo and colleagues (2006) found that SCN transplants from wild-type hamsters were also able to restore circadian rhythmicity in *tau* mutants, which are normally arrhythmic. It is also interesting to note that each SCN neuron is able to independently generate its own circadian rhythm when removed from the SCN (Liu & Reppert, 2000; Welsh, Logothetis, Meister, & Reppert, 1995), yet within the intact SCN neurons couple to form strong synchronized circadian rhythms such as metabolic activity (Schwartz & Zimmerman, 1991) and gene expression (Hastings & Herzog, 2004; Reppert & Weaver, 2002).

Photic (light) information enters the retina and is transmitted via the retinohypothalamic tract (RHT; Panda & Hogenesch, 2004), which is distinct from the pathway involved in the interpretation of visual stimuli, directly to the SCN (Berson, Dunn, & Takao, 2002). While photic information affects the SCN the most (Wakamatsu

et al., 2001), it is also true that a number of non-photic cues such as one's health (Hastings, Reddy, & Maywood, 2003), social interactions (Roenneberg, Kumar, & Merrow, 2007), feeding schedules (Verwey, Khoja, Stewart, & Amir, 2007), and olfactory cues (Amir, Cain, Sullivan, Robinson, & Stewart, 1999) have been found to also have a significant impact on the circadian system. However, these cues affect mostly molecular oscillators located in brain regions other than the SCN (Abe et al., 2002).

Feedback loops and clock genes

The SCN regulates and coordinates overt behavioral and physiological rhythms in the brain and peripheral tissues (Peirson et al., 2006). All circadian rhythms appear to arise from the interaction of a small set of core clock genes which make up the molecular clockwork (Ko & Takahashi, 2006; Lowrey & Takahashi, 2004). Circadian clocks express an autonomous oscillator which features positive and negative feedback loops that can be entrained to environmental synchronizers via various input pathways in order to give rise to overt rhythms. The main clock genes involved in this oscillatory system include *Clock* and *Bmal1*, comprising the positive arm, and *Cryptocrome* (*Cry1*, *Cry2*) and Period (Per1, Per2, Per3), comprising the negative arm of the feedback loop (Ko & Takahashi, 2006; Reppert & Weaver, 2002). Clock genes and their respective feedback loops are not solely expressed in the SCN; in fact, they are found in many other tissues and organs throughout the body (Glossop & Hardin, 2002). However, SCN-lesioning experiments have shown that although various organs such as the lungs and the liver still exhibit circadian rhythms in gene expression, acute arrythmicity occurs once these peripheral oscillators are deprived of outputs from the SCN for several cycles (Yamazaki

et al., 2000). These findings support the idea that the SCN's main role is to maintain the rhythms of self-sustained cellular oscillators both in the brain and in the periphery.

Most experiments investigating the mechanisms generating circadian oscillation at the molecular level have been conducted with peripheral tissue because of the ease of access and the large amount of tissue available. Certain types of cells, such as liver cells (Reddy & Maywood, 2007; Reppert & Weaver, 2002), islets of Langerhans cells (Allaman-Pillet et al., 2004; Mühlbauer, Wolgast, Finckh, Peschke, & Peschke, 2004) or exocrine cells from the pancreas (Kramer & Poort, 1971) for instance, have rapid division rates making them excellent candidates for *in vitro* studies. While these studies are invaluable when trying to pinpoint the function of certain circadian oscillators, it is only by also being able to conduct these studies *in vivo*, that one can drive more complete conclusions of the exact function of these oscillators. After all, only when looking at the entire organism, is it possible to understand the multitude of interacting feedback loops from the various tissues and organs, which may interact with outputs from the SCN.

From a phylogenic point of view, the *Per* genes are thought to be the most rapidly evolving genes regulating circadian oscillators (Tauber et al., 2004). Given the fact that they are also among the genes that affect circadian oscillations the most, it is not surprising to see that such a vast part of the circadian literature has been focusing on understanding their function (Lowrey & Takahashi, 2000; Reppert & Weaver, 2002). *Mutant experiments*

Mutant *Per2* experiments have found that mice without *Per2* function have transient rhythms with a shortened period of 22 hr (Zheng et al., 1999). While considering a different allele of the *Per2* gene, Bae and colleagues (2001) even reported

complete arrythmicity in *Per2* mutant mice placed in a normal light/dark (LD) cycle. Furthermore, most mutant mice lose rhythmicity when placed in constant darkness (Zheng et al., 2001). One should also note that *Per1* and *Per2* double mutants exhibit complete loss of their circadian rhythms (Albrecht, Zheng, Larkin, Sun, & Lee, 2001; Zheng et al., 1999). Despite the fact that mutant *Per1* and *Per2* mice are morphologically indistinguishable from their wild-type counter-parts, suggesting that these genes are not essential for proper cell differentiation during development, these animals display various symptoms of premature aging: more rapid decline in fertility, loss of soft tissues, development of kyphosis, hyperplasia of the salivary glands (Lee, 2006; Lowrey & Takahashi, 2000), and a slight increase in the number of cancerous tumors (Granda et al., 2005). Due to the fact that Per2 mutants seem to experience such a wide range of symptoms, a more specific method of targeting *Per2* is needed if one is to study its impact on circadian rhythms exclusively. While one can observe severe disruption of circadian rhythms in Per2 mutants, one cannot entirely exclude the potentially additive disruptive effects due in part to the development of kyphosis, an arching of the back which can slightly reduce mobility, on locomotor activity. Due to these and other confounds there is little concrete evidence for a direct link between *Per2* expression in the SCN and the disruption of circadian rhythms in behavior.

Gene silencing with antisense oligonucleotides

In order to link *Per2* expression in the SCN to circadian rhythms, one requires local silencing of the gene and this can be achieved through the use of antisense ODNs (Wakamatsu et al., 2001). These are short single-stranded (typically 19 to 25 base-pairlong) molecules which are complementary to specific messenger RNA (mRNA)

sequences. During transcription, mRNAs are formed from a DNA strand as various enzymes, such as RNA polymerase, copy the genetic code of specific genes. Subsequently, the mature mRNA leaves the cell nucleus and is expelled into the cytoplasm. It is then intercepted by ribosomes which attach to it and subsequently trigger translation of the genetic code contained within the single-stranded mRNA into the various proteins it codes for (Fire, 1999). At the same time, transfer RNA (tRNA) supplies the ribosomes with the required amino acids to constitute new proteins. However, if one were to inject antisense ODNs in the neighboring region of a cell, the antisense would be able to pass across the cellular membrane's pores and penetrate into the cytoplasm. There, the antisense has a high affinity to bind with its complementary base pairs located on mRNA strands. Once it detects a suitable piece of mRNA, the antisense attaches to it. Ribosomes are unable to translate double-stranded mRNA and thus the proteins for which the mRNA is coding for will not be formed. As a result, one is able to inhibit protein synthesis by injecting antisense ODNs into the surrounding tissue of a region of interest. The disadvantages of this technique are threefold: 1) It has been reported that in some cases only seven nucleotides binding to the proper complimentary mRNA strand suffice to halt translation (Fire et al., 1998). Hence, one can shut down the synthesis of multiple proteins which have partial complimentarity to the ODN used. Animal studies have shown that this can have potentially lethal side effects ranging from decreased heart rate to significant drops in white blood cell counts (Dias & Stein, 2002). 2) ODNs attach to the mRNA through the formation of hydrogen bonds, however, given the shortness of each antisense strand, not many bonds form and as a result the suppression effect is only short lasting as various enzymes, known as

RNases, degrade the hydrogen bonds (Dias & Stein, 2002). Once the hydrogen bonds are broken, ribosomes are again able to attach to the now single-stranded mRNA and recommence protein synthesis. 3) Each ODN is only able to bind to one mRNA strand and is generally degraded in a few hours (Choleris et al., 2007). Therefore, repeated injections with high concentrations are required in order to have a longer lasting and more potent effect. By increasing the concentrations however, one also increases the likelihood of cytotoxicity and off-target effects (Fire et al., 1998).

RNA interference

Another method of silencing genes is through the use of double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) to activate what is now termed the RNA interference (RNAi) pathway. There are two sub-types of RNAi: 1) Post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS) in which transcription of the target locus is unaffected but the half-life of the target RNA is significantly decreased (Montgomery, Xu, & Fire, 1998). 2) Transcriptional gene silencing (TGS) in which the structure of the chromatin template which forms the DNA strands is modified (Matzke et al., 1989). The latter is usually longer lasting than the former because RNA polymerase is unable to commence transcription. Therefore, if one is interested in silencing a given gene only for a few days, it is preferred to use PTGS by injecting long dsRNA.

Most long dsRNA are processed into short interference RNA (siRNA) rather effectively by an RNase-like enzyme named Dicer; however, dsRNA can induce a nonspecific interferon response in mammalian cells when it is injected in large quantities (Minks, West, Denvin, & Baglioni, 1979; Pestka & Langer, 1987). Dicer recognizes dsRNA as it penetrates the cytoplasm and cleaves it into small siRNA fragments

(Dykxhoorn, Novina, & Sharp 2003). Other enzymes, such as Argonaute bind to the siRNAs and form the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), a catalytic complex responsible for target mRNA cleavage (Schwarz et al., 2003). Each RISC contains only one of the two strands of the siRNA; some suggest that both strands are able to successfully induce RNAi if they are able to find an appropriate target (Martinez, Patkaniowska, Urlaub, Lührmann, & Tuschl, 2002), while others maintain that only the antisense strand which is less tightly paired to its complement, is incorporated into RISC while the other is degraded (Schwarz et al., 2003). Either way, RNAi through the use of long dsRNA is an effective method of transiently suppressing gene expression in a given structure for several days (Bhargava, Dallman, Pearce, & Choi, 2004).

Rationale and objectives

Although it has been shown that direct suppression of *Per2* gene expression in the SCN with antisense ODNs disrupts regular function of the clock (Sugiyama et al., 2004), the effect of suppression of *Per2* in the SCN on behavioral rhythms is unknown. In order to attempt to clarify the role of *Per2* in the SCN on locomotor activity and PER2 expression in SCN-targeted structures such as the CEA, BNST-ov and DG, I performed bilateral injections of dsRNA to *Per2* into the SCN of male rats.

In experiment 1, rats were placed in constant darkness after bilateral SCN microinjections of long dsRNA to *Per2* in order to assess the effects of transient gene suppression on locomotor activity. Experiment 2 investigated the masking effect of light on PER2 expression in the SCN and limbic forebrain. This was achieved by placing rats, following surgery, back under the same LD cycle they were previously entrained to. Finally, experiment 3 looked at the specificity of the long dsRNA to *Per2* used, by

labeling alternate brain sections for PER2 and cFos immunoreactivity. Unlike PER2 (Beaulé, Houle, & Amir, 2003) or cFos expression in the shell of the SCN (SCN-sh; Beaulé, Arvanitogiannis, & Amir, 2001), cFos expression in the core of the SCN (SCNco) is regulated by entraining light (Beaulé & Amir, 1999). Therefore, cFos immunoreactive nuclei were counted separately in the SCN-sh and SCN-co.

Method

Subjects

Adult male Wistar rats (Charles River Laboratories, St-Constant, QC) weighing between 315 gm and 425 gm on the day of surgery were used in these experiments. The rats were housed individually in clear plastic cages (50 cm X 27 cm X 37 cm) which were equipped with running wheels. The rats had *ad libitum* access to food and water during the entire experiment. The room in which the animals were housed was maintained at approximately 21 °C throughout the testing period. All procedures were in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines and were approved by the Animal Care Committee at Concordia University.

Apparatus

All cages were individually housed within sound- and light-proof enclosures (66 cm X 66 cm X 44 cm). Each enclosure contained a fluorescent light source (outputting \approx 300 lux), which was computer-controlled using VitalView (MiniMitter Co. Inc., Sunriver, OR), as well as a ventilation system to ensure proper airflow. Running-wheel activity was recorded using a magnetic switch connected to the VitalView system. Actograms were generated using Actiview (v1.2, MiniMitter Co. Inc., Sunriver, OR) and

the data were subsequently analyzed using Circadia Software (Behavioral Cybernetics, Cambridge, MA) in order to display and analyze running-wheel activity levels throughout the experiments.

Procedure

Each rat was entrained to a 12:12 hr LD cycle for at least 10 days before any manipulation took place. Throughout this period, locomotor activity was measured. This served a dual purpose: It provided a baseline activity level for all animals while at the same time serving as a measure of light entrainment for each individual. Rats were randomly divided into 2 groups: The experimental group received bilateral long doublestranded RNA (dsRNA) to *Per2* injections (6 µg in a volume of 1.5 µl per side) into the SCN, while the control group received bilateral injections of β -globin dsRNA (1.5 μ l per side) into the SCN. After surgery, the rats were placed back into their respective home cages. In experiment 1, rats (n = 16) were placed back in constant darkness for 46 days while their activity levels were recorded. A second group of rats (n = 6) were placed in constant dark for 21 days. Afterwards, they were placed under a 12:12 hr LD cycle which was the reverse of the one which they had initially been entrained to. In experiment 2, rats (n = 24) were placed back in the same LD cycle and were perfused three, six or 12 days after dsRNA microinfusions. A second group (n = 2) was bilaterally infused with dsRNA 1.5 mm dorsal to the SCN. Finally, in experiment 3, rats (n = 16)were entrained to a 12:12 hr LD cycle for 10 days. Afterwards, eight rats were bilaterally injected with dsRNA to Per2 and perfused six days later while the others were given placebo injections. Half of the rats of either group were perfused at ZT1 while the others

were perfused at ZT13. Alternate slices were stained for cFos and PER2 in order to test the specificity of the long dsRNA used in the present experiments.

dsRNA synthesis

Long dsRNA specific for *Per2* was amplified by reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction and cloned in TopoII vector (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON) by Dr. Aditi Bhargava and her research team at the University of California, San Francisco. The resulting dsRNA was then placed in eppendorf tubes containing 6 μ g of lyophilized dsRNA each.

dsRNA reconstitution

Each eppendorf tube containing 6 μ g of lyophilized dsRNA was reconstituted by adding 1 μ l of RNase-free water. The tubes were let to sit at room temperature for 15 min after vortexing for 15 s and briefly centrifuging the mixture. Subsequently, 0.5 μ l of Lipofectamine (Invitrogen) was added to each tube, followed by a brief 5 s of vortexing and centrifuging. Finally, the mixture was let to incubate at room temperature for 30 min before being ready to be injected into the SCN.

Surgery and injections

The rats were deeply anesthetized with a solution of ketamine/xylazine with concentrations of 100 mg/ml and 20 mg/ml respectively, administered intraperitoneally (0.15 ml/100 gm). Once anesthetized, the rats were securely fitted into a stereotaxic apparatus (Stoelting, Wood Dale, IL). The surface of the scalp was disinfected with iodine and a 1.5 cm long incision was made at the center of the skull. Two small holes were drilled at the appropriate coordinates from bregma for the SCN: anterior/posterior, -

1.2 mm; and medial/lateral, \pm 1.8 mm. Two Hamilton 2.0 µl syringes were loaded with 1.5 µl dsRNA each and using the stereotaxic, two specially-designed needle tips were slowly lowered to -8.3 mm below dura at a 10 ° angle in order to avoid hitting the sinuses. Once the proper depth was reached, the dsRNA was bilaterally injected over a 10 min interval using an infusion pump (Harvard Apparatus, Holliston, MA). Afterwards, an additional 2 min interval was given in order to allow the surrounding tissue to completely absorb any remaining dsRNA. The needles were then retracted and the holes in the skull were filled with sterile bone wax and subsequently covered with a layer of sticky wax. Hibitane (Bioglan), an antifungal and antiseptic cream, was then applied locally in order to prevent infection and the lesion was sutured. The rats were then given a 0.15 ml (0.075 ml in each leg) intramuscular injection of Procilin (MTC Bimeda, Cambridge, ON), an antibiotic and analgesic. Finally, each rat received a 2.0 ml (1.0 ml per side) subcutaneous injection of saline 0.9 % in order to facilitate re-hydration. After awaking, each rat was taken back to its home cage where it remained for the rest of the experiment.

Perfusions

The rats were deeply anesthetized with an overdose of sodium pentobarbital (\approx 100 mg/kg, Somnotol, MTC Bimeda) administered intraperitoneally and perfused intracardially with 300 ml of cold saline solution (0.9 % NaCl), followed by 300 ml of cold 4 % paraformaldehyde in a 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.3). Subsequently, the brains were post-fixed for 24 hr in 4 % paraformaldehyde at 4 °C. The following day, the brains were sliced using a vibratome (Vibratome, St-Louis, MO) into 50 µm thick coronal sections while being placed in cold trizma buffered saline (TBS). After a series of three

10 min TBS rinses to remove any remaining traces of paraformaldehyde, the sections were transferred into Watson's cryoprotectant and maintained at -20 °C until immunocytochemistry was performed.

Immunocytochemistry

Brain sections were taken out of Watson's cryoprotectant and rinsed in six 10 min cold TBS washes to remove any excess cryoprotectant. Brain sections were then transferred into quenching solution, consisting of 90 % TBS and 10 % hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) for 30 min at room temperature. Three 10 min rinses in cold TBS followed. Sections were then transferred into pre-block solution (0.3 % Triton X in TBS and 5.0 % normal goat serum) for 1 hr at 4 °C. Sections were transferred directly into a primary antibody solution, consisting of rabbit polyclonal antibody raised against PER2 diluted to 1:2000 in Triton X-100 in TBS and normal goat serum (NGS), where they were incubated for 48 hr at 4 °C. Sections were rinsed for three times 10 min in cold TBS. Brain sections were incubated in a secondary antibody solution, constituted of biotinylated anti-rabbit IgG made in goat (Vector Laboratories, Burlington, ON) diluted 1:200 in Triton TBS and 3 % NGS, for 1 hr at 4 °C. Another three 10 min rinses in cold TBS followed. The sections were then transferred into ABC solution (avidin-biotinperoxidase complex) in TBS for 2 hr at 4 °C (Vectastain Elite ABC Kit, Vector Laboratories). Sections were then rinsed for three 10 min periods in cold TBS followed by an additional 10 min rinse with cold 50 mM Tris-HCL. Afterwards, sections were incubated for 10 min in 0.05 % diaminobenzidine (DAB) in Tris-HCL. Following this step, sections were incubated for 10 min in DAB diluted in 50 mM Tris-HCL with 0.01 % H₂O₂ and 8 % Nickel Chloride (NiCl₂). Finally, the sections were rinsed with cold

TBS for three times 10 min and then mounted on gel-coated slides the following day. The next day, slides were dehydrated in alcohols of various concentrations for 10 min each, soaked in Citrosolve (Fischer Scientific, Houston, TX) for at least 30 min and coverslipped with Permount (Fischer Scientific).

Data analysis

Behavior

Actograms generated by the VitalView monitoring system were visually analyzed in order to ascertain entrainment and locomotor activity.

Brain

The coverslipped slides were inspected under a light microscope (Leitz Laborlux S) and images of the SCN, CEA, the BNSTov and DG were captured using a Sony XC-77 video camera connected to a Scion LG-3 frame grabber using NIH Image software (v1.63). Bilateral images were captured at 20X magnification using a 400 X 400 μ m template. Cells which were immunoreactive for PER2 were counted using Image SXM software (v1.79) in all experiments. The average of the 6 sections containing the highest numbers of labeled nuclei was used to calculate the final immunoreactivity of each area in each subject. The same procedure was used to count cFos immunoreactivity in experiment 3.

Experiment 1

Rats were first placed on a 12:12 hr LD cycle for two weeks. In order to observe the effect of long dsRNA to *Per2* on overall locomotor activity and any potential shifts in free running rhythms, rats were then placed in constant darkness for 46 days following bilateral dsRNA infusions, while their activity levels were recorded. Rats were perfused

at circadian time (CT) 1, which corresponds to 1 hr after the subjective activity offset. A separate group of rats were placed in constant dark for 21 days. Afterwards, they were placed under a 12:12 hr reversed LD cycle for 14 days in order to ascertain that the SCN was still responsive to photic cues. Animals were then perfused at ZT1, 1 hr after activity offset (lights on).

Experiment 2

To examine the effect of long dsRNA to *Per2* on locomotor activity and in order to measure the degree of silencing as well as the length of PER2 suppression, rats were perfused at ZT13 (1 hr after activity onset) three, six and 12 days after bilateral dsRNA infusions in the SCN while activity levels were monitored throughout. The masking effect of light on the SCN was tested by placing the rats back under the same LD cycle following surgery. The resulting differences in counts of immunoreactive cell nuclei for PER2 were analyzed using a 2-way ANOVA with days (three, six or 12) and treatment (experimental or control) as the independent variables. The alpha level was set at .05 for all analyses. A second group was bilaterally infused with dsRNA 1.5 mm dorsal to the SCN in order to test whether locomotor disruption and PER2 suppression was not due to spreading of the dsRNA up the injection tract.

Experiment 3

In order to determine whether the long dsRNA to *Per2* was in fact as specific as believed and that it was not also suppressing the expression of other genes, PER2 and cFos immunoreactivity was assessed in alternate sections in rats perfused at ZT1 or ZT13, six days after microinfusions. The resulting differences in counts were analyzed using a 2-way ANOVA with perfusion time (ZT1 and ZT13) and treatment (experimental

or control) as the independent variables for PER2 and cFos. All analyses were evaluated for significance at $\alpha = .05$.

Results

Experiment 1

Behavior in constant darkness

After being initially placed on a 12:12 hr LD cycle for 14 days, 20 rats were placed in constant darkness while their running wheel activity was measured every 10 min. Initially, locomotor activity was relatively random; however, all rats became entrained in a matter of days. The criterion for entrainment was defined as a pattern of running wheel activity which was almost exclusively limited to the dark phase. Two weeks post-entrainment rats were anesthetized and bilaterally infused with dsRNA to *Per2* (n = 16) or β -globin

(n = 4; shown by the arrow in each one of the double-plotted actograms in Figure 1). Rats were then placed back in their home cages under constant darkness in order to assess the effect of dsRNA on free running activity. Four of the 16 experimental rats were excluded due to unilateral or bilateral dsRNA infusion misses. As can be seen in the sample actograms (Figure 1A), experimental rats showed an arrhythmic running pattern up to 8 days post-surgery. Conversely, control rats (Figure 1B) exhibited disruption in their running patterns for the first two days after surgery only; a period of time corresponding with the time needed for recovery. Thus, on the third day post-surgery, control rats were active during their usual endogenous dark period whereas the experimental rats were entirely arrhythmic. Activity levels were monitored up to 46 days



Figure 1. Representative double-plotted (48 hr) actograms showing wheel running activity rhythms before and after bilateral intra-SCN infusions of (A) long dsRNA to *Per2* or (B) control solution (β -globin). The day of infusion is marked with an arrow. Rats were initially entrained to a 12:12 hr LD cycle and then returned to constant darkness following SCN infusions. White actogram portions indicate lights on while grey actogram portions indicate lights off. Black marks show periods of activity of at least 10 wheel rotations/10 min. Successive days are plotted from top to bottom. following surgery before all rats were sacrificed.

Constant darkness and light/dark cycle reversal

Six additional rats (experimental: n = 3; control: n = 3) were subject to the same experimental conditions as described above except that following surgery, rats were placed in constant darkness for 21 days and then exposed to a reverse 12:12 hr LD cycle for 14 days before being sacrificed. As shown in Figure 2, all rats were fully entrained within the first 2 days following exposure to the new LD cycle. This indicates that dsRNA did not have any long-lasting secondary side effects on the experimental rats' ability to entrain to a novel LD cycle.

Experiment 2

Behavior

As in experiment 1, rats were placed on a 12:12 hr LD cycle for 14 days. After bilateral infusions of dsRNA to *Per2* or β -globin, rats were placed back in home cages and kept on the same lighting schedule for the remainder of the experiment. Rats were then perfused at ZT13, three days (experimental: n = 4; control: n = 4), six days (experimental: n = 4; control: n = 4) and 12 days (experimental: n = 4; control: n = 4) after surgery. Figure 3 shows sample double-plotted actograms of each one of the three perfusion days, both for the experimental (A) and control rats (B). Upon inspection of Figure 3 it is apparent that experimental rats remained arrhythmic, to some degree, for up to eight days post-surgery. Interestingly the rats in this experiment showed less arrhythmicity than rats in experiment 1. This may be due to the masking effect of light which was able to entrain cells which still expressed *Per2* mRNA and synchronize their PER2 expression.



Figure 2. Representative double-plotted actograms showing wheel running activity rhythms before and after bilateral intra-SCN infusions as well as post-infusion light entrainment. (A) long dsRNA to *Per2* or (B) control solution (β -globin) were infused on the day marked with the arrow. Rats were entrained to a 12:12 hr LD cycle for 14 days and then released into constant darkness for 21 days following SCN infusions. Rats were then placed on a reverse 12:12 hr LD cycle in order to assess whether the SCN neurons could still entrain to light. White portions of the actogram indicate lights on while the grey portions indicates lights off. Black marks show periods of activity of at least 10 wheel rotations/10 min. Successive days are plotted from top to bottom.



Figure 3. Double-plotted actograms showing wheel running activity in rats perfused at ZT13, three, six or 12 days after bilateral intra-SCN infusions of (A) dsRNA to *Per2* or (B) control solution (β -globin). The arrow indicates the day of infusion.

SCN

All rats were perfused at ZT13 in order to measure the rate of suppression of PER2 expression in experimental animals. Figure 4 provides sample photomicrographs which correspond to the respective actograms found in Figure 3. Mirroring the recovery of rhythmicity previously demonstrated in Figure 3 a recovery in the number of PER2 immunoreactive (PER2-ir) nuclei was apparent as time post-surgery increased for rats in the experimental condition (Figure 4A). Further analyses of these data show significantly less PER2-ir in experimental rats when compared to controls, F(1, 18) = 43.04, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .71$. This suppression of PER2-ir was significant at all time points (Day 3: F(1, 6) = 42.60, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .88$; Day 6: F(1, 6) = 6.79, p < .05, $\eta^2 = .53$; Day 12: F(1, 6) = 10.90, p < .05, $\eta^2 = .65$) suggesting that dsRNA to *Per2* did successfully suppress PER2 expression in the SCN. This suppression appeared transient in nature as rats perfused three, six and 12 days after surgery had a mean PER2-ir suppression, relative to control rats, of 59 %, 39 % and 26 % respectively (Figure 5A).

BNST-ov

Figure 5B shows the mean expression of PER2-ir nuclei in the BNST-ov of rats perfused at ZT13, three, six and 12 days after bilateral microinfusions of dsRNA to *Per2* into the SCN. Here a significant effect of perfusion day, F(2, 18) = 5.26, p < .05, $\eta^2 =$.37, and experimental treatment, F(1, 18) = 131.05, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .88$, was evident. Upon further investigation dsRNA was shown to significantly suppress PER2-ir on all perfusion days (Day 3: F(1, 6) = 43.05, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .88$; Day 6: F(1, 6) = 39.40, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .87$; Day 12: F(1, 6) = 86.74, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .94$. However, PER2-ir was significantly



Figure 4. Photomicrographs showing examples of PER2 immunoreactivity in the SCN (unilaterally) in rats killed at ZT13, three, six or 12 days after intra-SCN infusions of (A) dsRNA to *Per2* or (B) control solution (β -globin). These photomicrographs correspond to the actograms displayed in Figure 3.



Figure 5. PER2 immunoreactive nuclei (Means $\pm SE$) in the (A) SCN and (B) BNST-ov in rats killed at ZT13 three (n = 8), six (n = 8) or 12 days (n = 8), after bilateral intra-SCN infusions of dsRNA to *Per2* (white bars) or control solution (β -globin; gray bars). Black regions on the brain maps indicate relative locations of the areas under investigation. * p < .05. ** p < .01.

greater in the experimental rats on day 12, as compared to day 3, t(6) = -3.52, p < .05.

CEA

Figure 6A shows the mean expression of PER2-ir nuclei in the CEA of experimental and control rats perfused at ZT13, three, six and 12 days after bilateral microinfusions of dsRNA to *Per2* into the SCN. A between subjects ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of perfusion day, F(2, 18) = 5.11, p < .05, $\eta^2 = .36$, as well as a significant main effect of treatment, F(1, 18) = 55.17, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .75$. However, there was no significant interaction between treatment and time of perfusion. Further analysis revealed a suppression of PER2-ir in the experimental group on all perfusion days (Day 3: F(1, 6) = 25.83, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .81$; Day 6: F(1, 6) = 21.30, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .78$; Day 12: F(1, 6) = 8.84, p < .05, $\eta^2 = .60$). However, a significant recovery of PER2 expression in the experimental rats was observed between day 3 and day 12, t(6) = -4.62, p < .01.

DG

Figure 6B shows the mean expression of PER2-ir nuclei in the DG of experimental and control rats perfused at ZT13, three, six and 12 days after bilateral microinfusions of dsRNA to *Per2* into the SCN. A between subjects ANOVA revealed a main effect of treatment, F(1, 18) = 37.87, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .68$, but no significant effect of perfusion day or treatment by perfusion day interaction. Contrary to findings in the BNST-ov and the CEA experimental rats showed increased PER2-ir in the DG relative to control rats. Further analyses were performed in order to assess the effect of SCN dsRNA infusion over time. These analyses revealed a significant difference between experimental and control rats on all perfusion days (Day 3: F(1, 6) = 23.32, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .80$; Day 6: F(1, 6) = 6.91, p < .05, $\eta^2 = .54$; Day 12: F(1, 6) = 14.58, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .71$).



Figure 6. Mean number of PER2 immunoreactive nuclei (\pm *SE*) in the (A) CEA and (B) DG in rats killed at ZT13 three (n = 8), six (n = 8) or 12 days (n = 8), after bilateral intra-SCN infusions of dsRNA to *Per2* (white bars) or control solution (β -globin; gray bars). Black regions on the brain maps indicate relative locations of the areas under investigation.

* *p* < .05. ** *p* < .01.

The DG did show some recovery of PER2 rhythmicity, t(6) = 2.56, p < .05, contrary to the other brain regions which were investigated.

Dorsal controls

In order to verify the specificity of dsRNA two rats were bilaterally infused with dsRNA to *Per2* 1.5 mm dorsally to the SCN. Figure 7 displays the actograms of these two rats when entrained to a 12:12 hr LD cycle for 14 days prior to surgery and 6 days post-surgery. These actograms are virtually identical to those of rats having received β -globin control injections, suggesting that dsRNA to *Per2* disrupts circadian function through a direct effect on the SCN.

Experiment 3

Behavior

Running wheel activity was monitored throughout the course of the experiment. The resulting actograms were exact replications of the findings in experiment 2 (data not shown). Rats were perfused either at ZT1 or ZT13, six days after surgery.

PER2 immunocytochemistry

SCN

Figure 8 shows representative photomicrographs from the SCN of rats which were bilaterally infused with (A) dsRNA to *Per2* in the SCN at ZT1 and ZT13, and of rats bilaterally infused with (B) β -globin in the SCN at ZT1 and ZT13. A between subjects ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of perfusion time, F(1, 12) = 71.30, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .86$, treatment group, F(1, 12) = 4.79, p < .05, $\eta^2 = .29$, and a perfusion time by treatment interaction, F(1, 12) = 24.43, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .67$. Overall PER2-ir was greater at ZT13. However, at ZT1 rats in the experimental group displayed significantly more



Figure 7. Double-plotted actograms showing wheel running activity in dorsal control rats (n = 2) which were bilaterally injected 1.5 µm above the SCN with dsRNA to *Per2*.



Figure 8. Photomicrographs showing examples of PER2 immunoreactivity in the SCN (unilaterally) in rats killed at ZT1 and ZT13, six days after intra-SCN infusions of (A) dsRNA to *Per2* or (B) control solution (β -globin).

PER2-ir than rats in the control group, t(6) = 5.04, p < .01 (Figure 9A).

Limbic Forebrain Regions

The mean PER2-ir nuclei at ZT1 and ZT13, for rats perfused six days after surgery is displayed in Figure 9. For both the BNST-ov (B) and the CEA (C) rats displayed significantly more PER2-ir at ZT13 than ZT1, $F_{BNST-ov}(1, 12) = 38.46, p < .01$, $\eta^2 = .76$; $F_{CEA}(1, 12) = 59.14$, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .83$. Moreover, a significant effect of treatment was also observed. BNST-ov and CEA PER2-ir was significantly reduced in the dsRNA group, $F_{BNST-ov}(1, 12) = 5.47$, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .76$; $F_{CEA}(1, 12) = 26.97$, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .69$. Furthermore for the CEA a significant interaction between perfusion time and treatment was observed, F(1, 12) = 9.76, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .62$. Investigation of this interaction revealed a significant suppression of PER2-ir in experimental rats at ZT13, t(6) = 6.23, p < .01. Similar to the BNST-ov and the CEA there was a significant effect of perfusion time, F(1, 12) = 93.75, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .89$, and treatment, F(1, 12) = 15.89, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .57$, when investigating DG PER2-ir. Moreover a significant interaction between time of perfusion and treatment was also observed, F(1, 12) = 30.25, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .72$. However, contrary to findings in the BNST-ov and CEA a significant blunting of PER2-ir was observed in experimental relative to control rats at ZT1, t(6) = 5.01, p < .01.

cFos immunocytochemistry

SCN

Figure 10 shows representative photomicrographs of cFos-ir in the SCN of rats which were bilaterally infused with (A) dsRNA to *Per2* in the SCN at ZT1 and ZT13, and of rats bilaterally infused with (B) β -globin in the SCN at ZT1 and ZT13.



Figure 9. PER2 immunoreactive nuclei (Means \pm *SE*) in the (A) SCN, (B) BNST-ov, (C) CEA and (D) DG in rats sacrificed at ZT1 (n = 8) or ZT13 (n = 8), 6 days after bilateral intra-SCN infusions of dsRNA to *Per2* (white bars) or control solution (β -globin; gray bars).

* *p* < .05. ** *p* < .01.



Figure 10. Photomicrographs showing examples of cFos immunoreactivity in the SCN (unilaterally) in rats killed at ZT1 and ZT13, six days after intra-SCN infusions of (A) dsRNA to *Per2* or (B) control solution (β -globin).

Figure 11A shows a schematic, drawn on top of a representative photomicrograph of cFos-ir in the SCN, depicting the separation that exists between the shell and the core. As seen in Figure 11B the mean expression of cFos-ir in the SCN-sh or SCN-co (Figure 11C) was not significantly different for experimental and control rats. However, as demonstrated previously for PER2-ir, perfusion time did have a significant effect on cFos-ir in both the SCN-co, F(1, 12) = 157.90, p < .01, $\eta^2 = .93$ and SCN-sh, F(1, 12) = 13.46, p < .05, $\eta^2 = .53$. In both regions cFos-ir was reduced at ZT13.

Limbic Forebrain Regions

Figure 12 shows the mean expression of cFos-ir in the BNST-ov (A), CEA (B) and DG (C) of experimental and control rats perfused at ZT1 or ZT13, six days following bilateral microinfusions of dsRNA to *Per2* into the SCN. In all regions a significant main effect of perfusion time was observed ($F_{BNST-ov}(1, 12) = 157.90, p < .01, \eta^2 = .93; F_{CEA}(1, 12) = 25.13, p < .01, \eta^2 = .68; F_{DG}(1, 12) = 19.67, p < .01, \eta^2 = .62);$ however, there were no significant main effects of treatment and no significant interactions. Furthermore, in all regions cFos-ir was greatest at ZT1.



Figure 11. (A) Sample photomicrograph showing cFos expression as well as a schematic of the two sub-sections of the SCN: the shell and the core, indicated by the arrows. cFos immunoreactive nuclei (Means \pm *SE*) in the (B) SCN shell and (C) SCN core in rats sacrificed at ZT1 (n = 8) or ZT13 (n = 8), six days after bilateral intra-SCN infusions of dsRNA to *Per2* (white bars) or control solution (β -globin; gray bars). * p < .05. ** p < .01.



Figure 12. Mean number of cFos immunoreactive nuclei (\pm *SE*) in the (A) BNST-ov, (B) CEA and (C) DG in rats sacrificed at ZT1 (n = 8) or ZT13 (n = 8), six days after bilateral intra-SCN infusions of dsRNA to *Per2* (white bars) or control solution (β -globin; gray bars).

Discussion

Mutant studies have suggested that PER2 plays a key role in the regulation of circadian rhythms in behavior (Spoelstra, Albrecht, van der Horst, Brauer, & Daan, 2004; Zheng et al., 1999). However, evidence for a direct link between circadian rhythms in behavior and PER2 expression in the SCN is lacking due to developmental confounds is mutants (Sumova et al., 2006; Zueger et al., 2006) and limitations associated with ODNs (Wakamatsu et al., 2001). In order to circumvent these confounds, the present thesis examined whether dsRNA to *Per2*, infused locally through bilateral infusions into the area of the SCN, could suppress both circadian wheel running and PER2 protein expression. These infusions produced a transient disruption in locomotor activity rhythms in rats housed on a 12:12 hr LD cycle and in constant darkness. Moreover, this disruption in rhythmicity was correlated with a reduction in PER2-ir in the SCN and various limbic forebrain regions.

In experiment 1, it was found that bilateral SCN microinjections of long dsRNA to *Per2* were effective at disrupting PER2 rhythmicity in the SCN for up to eight days. The specificity of this effect was demonstrated by showing no effect of dsRNA when injected a few millimeters off-target (dorsal controls) or when a unilateral or bilateral injection was missed.

The behavioral data show that rats can become entrained to a reverse LD cycle very rapidly after having been exposed to constant darkness for an extended period of time. Moreover, rats given bilateral dsRNA infusions into the SCN were able to entrain, as quickly as control rats given only a vehicle, to a reverse LD cycle after the eight days during which the dsRNA is effective. This demonstrates a transient effect of dsRNA

suppression.

Experiment 2 investigated the masking effect of light on PER2 expression in the SCN and limbic forebrain. As expected, once experimental rats were placed post-surgery on a LD cycle, light masked part of their behavior and therefore, they seemed to be better entrained than the rats in experiment 1, running more during the dark phase. By perfusing the rats at ZT13, three, six and 12 days post-surgery and quantifying PER2-ir in the SCN, BNST-ov, CEA and DG, I was able to determine the course of the effectiveness of the dsRNA to Per2. It was found that PER2 was suppressed 59 %, 39 % and 26 % after, three, six and 12 days respectively. These findings further support the behavioral results showing that dsRNA is transient. These results also help us to better interpret some of the findings in experiment 1: Although experimental rats were arrhythmic in constant darkness for up to eight days, once they started free-running, their period corresponded almost perfectly to that of control rats, which had been free-running ever since the animals underwent surgery. This re-synchronization with the free-running periods of the controls can be explained by the fact that maximal PER2 suppression was only 59 %. Therefore, there were many SCN neurons which were still expressing PER2; since each individual SCN neuron is able to maintain its own rhythm (Reppert & Weaver, 2002), these neurons were able to remain rhythmic while neighboring neurons had their activity suppressed. Once the neighboring neurons were able to express PER2 again, they were able to re-synchronize with the neurons that had not lost rhythmicity. Given that in order to increase the degree of PER2 suppression, one would require injecting larger quantities of dsRNA, which would ultimately become cytotoxic (Fire, 1999), one cannot completely suppress PER2 expression in the SCN by using this method.

The PER2-ir counts from experiment 2 combined with the behavioral data from experiments 1 and 2 illustrate that there is a threshold effect of PER2 suppression; at which point behavioral rhythmicity is lost. This threshold seems to be in the vicinity of 39 % because at six days post-surgery, some rats are still arrhythmic while others start regaining rhythmicity. These findings support previous research concluding that various posttranscriptional and posttranslational mechanisms are in place, which can ultimately delay clock gene expression to various degrees throughout the day (Harms, Kivimae, Young, & Saez, 2004), thus resulting in a blunted rhythm.

Finally, experiment 3 looked at the specificity of the long dsRNA to *Per2* sequence used, by labeling alternate brain sections for PER2 and cFos in rats perfused at ZT1 or ZT13. It was found that PER2 was significantly suppressed but cFos expression was unaltered. An interesting finding was the fact that while PER2 expression was suppressed at ZT13; it was actually significantly higher than in controls at ZT1. A possible interpretation would be that since there is a six-hour delay between peak *Per2* mRNA levels and PER2 expression (Harms et al., 2004; Takahashi, 2004), by disrupting the circadian clock through PER2 suppression, PER2 levels are reduced at ZT13. Due to this reduction, the feedback mechanisms no longer function normally and thus produce a smaller troth; hence PER2 expression at ZT1 results in being higher than in controls.

A possible limitation of these experiments is the fact that the noted effect could be due to a shift in the usual phase of PER2 expression, which may be the result of posttranscriptional and/or posttranslational processes such as phosphorylation, ubiquitylation and protein degradation (Tamanini, Yagita, Okamura, & van der Horst, 2005). However, if this were the case, then the dsRNA would have merely caused a shift

in locomotor activity because animals whose phases are shifted by being placed on a different LD cycle for instance, will exhibit a gradual shift in locomotor activity, as can be seen during the entrainment phase of these experiments. Yet no such shift occurred; instead, locomotor arrhythmicity has been noted. Nevertheless, perfusing more animals at two additional time points could provide a better understanding of this matter and might help clear the issue at hand. Another possible criticism regarding the present thesis can be made when considering recent findings by Fujimoto, Yagita, and Okamura (2006), who reported that PER2 expression was possible without previous expression of its mRNA. This suggests that the circadian machinery's feedback loops are more complex than initially thought, however, there is not enough data to verify this speculation.

The current thesis has shown that long dsRNA to *Per2* can be used to transiently suppress PER2 expression in the SCN in vivo. Furthermore, it was shown that this suppression resulted in loss of locomotor circadian rhythmicity. The specificity of the dsRNA used was tested by measuring the amount of cFos-ir in alternate brain slices, which led to the conclusion that the dsRNA was in fact specific to *Per2* because it did not alter cFos expression. Future studies could investigate the effects of dsRNA to *Per2* infused into the SCN at additional time points such as ZT7 and ZT19 in order to draw a clearer picture of circadian PER2 fluctuations. Additionally, it would be of interest to investigate the effects of dsRNA infusions directly into other structures such as the BNST-ov, CEA, DG and even the dorsal medial hypothalamus, which plays a key role in restricted feeding. Finally, dsRNA can be used to look at the role played by PER2 in specific structures and its effects on metabolism since a number of studies (Liu et al., 2007; Wijnen et al., 2006) have already outlined the importance of clock genes therein.

- Abe, K., Kroning, J., Greer, M. A., & Critchlow, V. (1979). Effects of destruction of the suprachiasmatic nuclei on the circadian rhythms in plasma corticosterone, body temperature, feeding and plasma thyrotropin. *Neuroendocrinology*, 29, 119-131.
- Abe, M., Herzog, E. D., Yamazaki, S., Straume, M., Tei, H., Sakaki, Y., et al. (2002).
 Circadian rhythms in isolated brain regions. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22, 350-356.
- Abraham, D., Dallmann, R., Steinlechner, S., Albrecht, U., Eichele, G., & Oster, H. (2006). Restoration of circadian rhythmicity in circadian clock-deficient mice in constant light. *Journal of Biological Rhythms*, 21, 169-176.
- Albrecht, U. (in press). Orchestration of gene expression and physiology by the circadian clock. *Journal of Physiology Paris*.
- Albrecht, U., Zheng, B., Larkin, D., Sun, Z. S., & Lee, C. C. (2001). mPer1 and mPer2 are essential for normal resetting of the circadian clock. *Journal of Biological Rhythms*, *16*, 100-104.
- Allaman-Pillet, N., Roduit, R., Oberson, A., Abdelli, S., Ruiz, J., Beckmann, J. S., et al. (2004). Circadian regulation of islet genes involved in insulin production and secretion. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 226, 59-66.
- Amir, S., Cain, S., Sullivan, J., Robinson, B., & Stewart, J. (1999). In rats, odor-induced
 Fos in the olfactory pathways depends on the phase of the circadian clock.
 Neuroscience Letters, 272, 175-178.

Amir, S., Lamont, E. W., Robinson, B., & Stewart, J. (2004). A circadian rhythm in the

expression of period2 protein reveals a novel SCN-controlled oscillator in the oval nucleus of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *24*, 781-790.

- Anestis, S. F., & Bribiescas, R. G. (2004). Rapid changes in chimpanzee (pan troglodytes) urinary cortisol excretion. *Hormones and Behavior*, *45*, 209-213.
- Antle, M. C., LeSauter, J., & Silver, R. (2005). Neurogenesis and ontogeny of specific cell phenotypes within the hamster suprachiasmatic nucleus. *Brain Research -Developmental Brain Research*, 157, 8-18.
- Bae, K., Jin, X., Maywood, E. S., Hastings, M. H., Reppert, S. M., & Weaver, D. R. (2001). Differential functions of mPer1, mPer2, and mPer3 in the SCN circadian clock. *Neuron*, 30, 525-536.
- Beaulé, C., & Amir, S. (1999). Photic entrainment and induction of immediate-early genes within the rat circadian system. *Brain Research*, *821*, 95-100.
- Beaulé, C., Arvanitogiannis, A., & Amir, S. (2001). Light suppresses Fos expression in the shell region of the suprachiasmatic nucleus at dusk and dawn: Implications for photic entrainment of circadian rhythms. *Neuroscience*, 106, 249-254.
- Beaulé, C., Houle, L. M., & Amir, S. (2003). Expression profiles of PER2
 immunoreactivity within the shell and core regions of the rat suprachiasmatic
 nucleus: lack of effect of photic entrainment and disruption by constant light. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience, 21*, 133-147.
- Berson, D. M., Dunn, F. A., & Takao, M. (2002) Phototransduction by retinal ganglion cells that set the circadian clock. *Science*, 295, 1070-1073.

Bhargava, A., Dallman, M. F., Pearce, D., & Choi, S. (2004). Long double-stranded

RNA-mediated RNA interference as a tool to achieve site-specific silencing of hypothalamic neuropeptides. *Brain Research. Brain Research Protocols, 13*, 115-125.

- Caldelas, I., Poirel, V. J., Sicard, B., Pevet, P., & Challet, E. (2003). Circadian profile and photic regulation of clock genes in the suprachiasmatic nucleus of a diurnal mammal arvicanthis ansorgei. *Neuroscience*, *116*, 583-591.
- Cheng, H. Y., Papp, J. W., Varlamova, O., Dziema, H., Russell, B., Curfman, J. P., et al. (2007). MicroRNA modulation of circadian-clock period and entrainment. *Neuron*, 54, 813-829.
- Choleris, E., Little, S. R., Mong, J. A., Puram, S. V., Langer, R., & Pfaff, D. W. (2007). Microparticle-based delivery of oxytocin receptor antisense DNA in the medial amygdala blocks social recognition in female mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104, 4670-4675.
- Dey, J., Carr, A. J., Cagampang, F. R., Semikhodskii, A. S., Loudon, A. S., Hastings, M. H., et al. (2005). The tau mutation in the syrian hamster differentially reprograms the circadian clock in the SCN and peripheral tissues. *Journal of Biological Rhythms*, 20, 99-110.
- Dias, N., & Stein, C. A. (2002). Antisense oligonucleotides: Basic concepts and mechanisms. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 5, 347-355.
- Dykxhoorn, D. M., Novina, C. D., & Sharp, P. A. (2003). Killing the messenger: Short RNAs that silence gene expression. *Nature Reviews – Molecular Cell Biolog, 4* 457-467.

Fire, A. (1999). RNA-triggered gene silencing. Trends in Genetics, 15, 358-363.

- Fire, A., Xu, S., Montgomery, M. K., Kostas, S. A., Driver, S. E., & Mello, C. C. (1998).
 Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature*, 391, 806-811.
- Fujimoto, Y., Yagita, K., & Okamura, H. (2006). Does mPer2 protein oscillate without its coding mRNA cycling? Post-transcriptional regulation by cell clock. *Genes to Cells*, 11, 525-530.
- Glossop, N. R., & Hardin, P. E. (2002). Central and peripheral circadian oscillator mechanisms in flies and mammals. *Journal of Cell Science*, *115*, 3369-3377.
- Granda, T. G., Liu, X. H., Smaaland, R., Cermakian, N., Filipski, E., Sassone-Corsi, P., et al. (2005). Circadian regulation of cell cycle and apoptosis proteins in mouse bone marrow and tumor. *The Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology Journal, 19*, 304-306.
- Guo, H., Brewer, J. M., Lehman, M. N., & Bittman, E. L. (2006). Suprachiasmatic
 regulation of circadian rhythms of gene expression in hamster peripheral organs:
 Effects of transplanting the pacemaker. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26, 6406-6412.
- Harms, E., Kivimae, S., Young, M. W., & Saez, L. (2004). Posttranscriptional and posttranslational regulation of clock genes. *Journal of Biological Rhythms*, 19, 361-373.
- Hastings, M. H., & Herzog, E. D. (2004). Clock genes, oscillators, and cellular networks in the suprachiasmatic nuclei. *Journal of Biological Rhythms*, *19*, 400-413.
- Hastings, M. H., Reddy, A. B., & Maywood, E. S. (2003). A clockwork web: Circadian timing in brain and periphery, in health and disease. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 4, 649-661.

- Hoffmann, K., Illnerova, H., & Vanecek, J. (1981). Effect of photoperiod and of one minute light at night-time on the pineal rhythm on N-acetyltransferase activity in the djungarian hamster phodopus sungorus. *Biology of Reproduction, 24*, 551-556.
- Ko, C. H., & Takahashi, J. S. (2006). Molecular components of the mammalian circadian clock. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 15, R271-277.
- Kramer, M. F., & Poort, C. (1972). Unstimulated secretion of protein from rat exocrine pancreas cells. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *52*, 147-158.
- Kurreck, J. (2003). Antisense technologies: Improvement through novel chemical modifications. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 270, 1628-1644.
- Lamont, E. W., Robinson, B., Stewart, J., & Amir, S. (2005). The central and basolateral nuclei of the amygdala exhibit opposite diurnal rhythms of expression of the clock protein period2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 102*, 4180-4184.
- Liu, C., Li, S., Liu, T., Borjigin, J., & Lin, J. D. (2007). Transcriptional coactivator PGC1alpha integrates the mammalian clock and energy metabolism. *Nature*, 447, 477481.
- Liu, C., & Reppert, S. M. (2000). GABA synchronizes clock cells within the suprachiasmatic circadian clock. *Neuron*, 25, 123-128.
- Lowrey, P. L., & Takahashi, J. S. (2000). Genetics of the mammalian circadian system: Photic entrainment, circadian pacemaker mechanisms, and posttranslational regulation. *Annual Review of Genetics*, *34*, 533-562.

Lowrey, P. L., & Takahashi, J. S. (2004). Mammalian circadian biology: Elucidating

genome-wide levels of temporal organization. *Annual Review of Genomics and Human Genetics*, 5, 407-441.

- Martinez, J., Patkaniowska, A., Urlaub, H., Lührmann, R., & Tuschl, T. (2002). Singlestranded antisense siRNAs guide target RNA cleavage in RNAi. *Cell*, *110*, 563-574.
- Matzke, M. A., Primig, M., Trnovsky, J., & Matzke, A. J. (1989). Reversible methylation and inactivation of marker genes in sequentially transformed tobacco plants. *European Molecular Biology Organization Journal*, 8, 643-649.
- Minks, M. A., West, D. K., Denvin, S., & Baglioni, C. (1979). Structural requirements of double-stranded RNA for the activation of 2', 5'-oligo(A) polymerase and protein kinase of interferon-treated HeLa cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 20*, 10180-10183.
- Montgomery, M. K., Xu, S., & Fire, A. (1998). RNA as a target of double-stranded RNA-mediated genetic interference in caenorhabditis elegans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 95*, 15502-15507.
- Muhlbauer, E., Wolgast, S., Finckh, U., Peschke, D., & Peschke, E. (2004). Indication of circadian oscillations in the rat pancreas. *Federation of European Biochemical Sciences Letters*, 564, 91-96.
- Panda, S., & Hogenesch, J. B. (2004). It's all in the timing: Many clocks, many outputs. Journal of Biological Rhythms, 19, 374-387.
- Peirson, S. N., Butler, J. N., Duffield, G. E., Takher, S., Sharma, P., & Foster, R. G.
 (2006). Comparison of clock gene expression in SCN, retina, heart, and liver of mice. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 351, 800-807.

- Peskta, S., & Langer, J. A. (1987). Interferons and their actions. *Annuals Reviews of Biochemistry*, 56, 727-777.
- Ralph, M. R., Foster, R. G., Davis, F. C., & Menaker, M. (1990). Transplanted suprachiasmatic nucleus determines circadian period. *Science*, 247, 975-978.
- Reddy, A. B., & Maywood, E. S. (2007). Circadian rhythms: Per2bations in the liver clock. *Current Biology*, 17, 292-294.
- Reppert, S. M., & Weaver, D. R. (2002). Coordination of circadian timing in mammals. *Nature, 418*, 935-941.
- Roenneberg, T., Kumar, C. J., & Merrow, M. (2007). The human circadian clock entrains to sun time. *Current Biology*, 17, R44-45.
- Schwarz, D. S., Hutvágner, G., Du, T., Xu, Z., Aronin, N., & Zamore, P. D. (2003).Asymmetry in the assembly of the RNAi enzyme complex. *Cell*, 115, 199-208.
- Schwartz, W. J., & Zimmerman, P. (1991). Lesions of the suprachiasmatic nucleus disrupt circadian locomotor rhythms in the mouse. *Physiology & Behavior*, 49, 1283-1287.
- Spoelstra, K., Albrecht, U., van der Horst, G. T., Brauer, V., & Daan, S. (2004). Phase responses to light pulses in mice lacking functional per or cry genes. *Journal of Biological Rhythms*, 19, 518-529.
- Stephan, F. K., & Zucker, I. (1972). Circadian rhythms in drinking behavior and locomotor activity of rats are eliminated by hypothalamic lesions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 69*, 1583-1586.
- Sugiyama, T., Yoshioka, T., & Ikeda, M. (2004). mPer2 antisense oligonucleotides inhibit mPER2 expression but not circadian rhythms of physiological activity in

cultured suprachiasmatic nucleus neurons. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 323, 479-483.

- Sumova, A., Bendova, Z., Sladek, M., Kovacikova, Z., El-Hennamy, R., Laurinova, K., et al. (2006). The rat circadian clockwork and its photoperiodic entrainment during development. *Chronobiology International*, 23, 237-243.
- Takahashi, J. S. (2004). Finding new clock components: Past and future. Journal of Biological Rhythms, 19, 339-347.
- Tamanini, F., Yagita, K., Okamura, H., & van der Horst, G. T. (2005).
 Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of clock proteins. *Methods in Enzymology*, 393, 418-435.
- Tauber, E., Last, K. S., Olive, P. J., & Kyriacou, C. P. (2004). Clock gene evolution and functional divergence. *Journal of Biological Rhythms*, 19, 445-458.
- van den Pol, A. N. (1980). The hypothalamic suprachiasmatic nucleus of rat: Intrinsic anatomy. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 191, 661-702.
- Verwey, M., Khoja, Z., Stewart, J., & Amir, S. (2007). Differential regulation of the expression of period2 protein in the limbic forebrain and dorsomedial hypothalamus by daily limited access to highly palatable food in food-deprived and free-fed rats. *Neuroscience*, 147, 277-285.
- Wakamatsu, H., Takahashi, S., Moriya, T., Inouye, S. T., Okamura, H., Akiyama, M., et al. (2001). Additive effect of mPer1 and mPer2 antisense oligonucleotides on light-induced phase shift. *Neuroreport*, 12, 127-131.
- Welsh, D. K., Logothetis, D. E., Meister, M., & Reppert, S. M. (1995) Individual neurons dissociated from rat suprachiasmatic nucleus express independently phase

circadian firing rhythms. Neuron, 14, 697-706.

- Wijnen, H., & Young, M. W. (2006). Interplay of circadian clocks and metabolic rhythms. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 40, 409-448.
- Yamazaki, S., Numano, R., Abe, M., Hida, A., Takahashi, R., Ueda, M., et al. (2000).
 Resetting central and peripheral circadian oscillators in transgenic rats. *Science*, 288, 682-685.
- Zheng, B., Albrecht, U., Kaasik, K., Sage, M., Lu, W., Vaishnav, S., et al. (2001). Nonredundant roles of the mPer1 and mPer2 genes in the mammalian circadian clock. *Cell*, 105, 683-694.
- Zheng, B., Larkin, D. W., Albrecht, U., Sun, Z. S., Sage, M., Eichele, G., et al. (1999). The mPer2 gene encodes a functional component of the mammalian circadian clock. *Nature*, 400, 169-173.
- Zueger, M., Urani, A., Chourbaji, S., Zacher, C., Lipp, H. P., Albrecht, U., et al. (2006). mPer1 and mPer2 mutant mice show regular spatial and contextual learning in standardized tests for hippocampus-dependent learning. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 113, 347-356.

APPENDICES

Descriptive	Statistics					
Perfusion	Treatment		SCN	BNST-ov	CEA	DG
Day 3	dsRNA	М	139.50	74.00	107.00	54.68
		SE	24.67	9.55	8.40	7.75
	β-globin	М	337.75	149.00	182.25	15.95
		SE	17.73	6.28	12.20	2.05
Day 6	dsRNA	М	194.50	76.25	116.00	45.35
		SE	46.19	10.70	14.71	7.12
	β-globin	М	317.75	153.75	189.25	20.60
		SE	10.27	6.16	5.95	6.17
Day 12	dsRNA	М	229.50	108.50	158.00	32.40
		SE	20.74	2.25	7.18	3.92
	β-globin	М	310.25	158.00	193.50	14.45
		SE	12.95	4.81	9.54	2.59

Source	df	F	η ²	p
Days (D)	2	0.78	.08	.47
Treatment (T)	1	43.04**	.71	.00
DXT	2	2.82	.24	.09
Error	18	(2506.18)		

Analysis of Variance by Treatment for PER2 Immunoreactivity in the SCN

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square errors. ** p < .01.

Table A3

Analysis of Variance by Perfusion Day for PER2 Immunoreactivity in the SCN

Days	Source	df	F	η²	p
Day 3	Treatment	1	42.60**	.88	.00
	Error	6	(1845.29)		
Day 6	Treatment	1	6.79*	.53	.04
	Error	6	(4477.92)		
Day 12	Treatment	1	10.90*	.65	.02
	Error	6	(1195.96)		

Note. Values enclosed in parentheses represent mean square errors. p < .05. ** p < .01.

Source	df	F	η ²	p
Days (D)	2	5.26*	.37	.02
Treatment (T)	1	131.04**	.88	.00
DXT	2	2.31	.20	.13
Error	18	(207.58)		

Analysis of Variance by Treatment for PER2 Immunoreactivity in the BNST-ov

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square errors. * p < .05. ** p < .01.

Table A5

Analysis of Variance by Perfusion Day for PER2 Immunoreactivity in the BNST-ov

Days	Source	df	F	ηź	p
Day 3	Treatment	1	43.05**	.88	.00
	Error	6	(261.33)		
Day 6	Treatment	1	39.40**	.87	.00
	Error	6	(304.92)		
Day 12	Treatment	1	86.73**	.94	.00
	Error	6	(56.50)		

Note. Values enclosed in parentheses represent mean square errors. ** p < .01.

Source	df	F	η²	p
Days (D)	2	5.11*	.36	.02
Treatment (T)	1	55.17**	.75	.00
DXT	2	2.45	.21	.11
Error	18	(409.14)		

Analysis of Variance by Treatment for PER2 Immunoreactivity in the CEA

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square errors. * p < .05. ** p < .01.

Table A7

Analysis of Variance by Perfusion Day for PER2 Immunoreactivity in the CEA

Days	Source	df	F	η^2	p
Day 3	Treatment	1	25.83**	.81	.00
	Error	6	(438.46)		
Day 6	Treatment	1	21.30**	.78	.00
	Error	6	(503.79)		
Day 12	Treatment	1	8.84*	.60	.02
	Error	6	(285.17)		

Note. Values enclosed in parentheses represent mean square errors. p < .05. ** p < .01.

~ .	-	0		<i>.</i>	
Source	df	F	η ²	p	
Days (D)	2	2.72	.23	.09	
Treatment (T)	1	37.87**	.68	.00	
DXT	2	1.92	.18	.18	
Error	18	(116.73)			

Analysis of Variance by Treatment for PER2 Immunoreactivity in the DG

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square errors. ** p < .01.

Table A9

Analysis of Variance by Perfusion Day for PER2 Immunoreactivity in the DG

Days	Source	df	F	η ²	p
Day 3	Treatment	1	23.32**	.80	.00
	Error	6	(128.60)		
Day 6	Treatment	1	6.91*	.54	.04
	Error	6	(177.41)		
Day 12	Treatment	1	14.58*	.71	.01
	Error	6	(44.19)		

Note. Values enclosed in parentheses represent mean square errors. p < .05. ** p < .01.

Descriptive	Statistics					
Perfusion	Treatment		SCN	BNST-ov	CEA	DG
ZT1	dsRNA	М	112.71	43.04	45.21	48.13
		SE	7.12	5.59	8.68	9.36
	ß-globin	М	65.25	46.75	50.63	98.5
		SE	6.17	3.73	3.16	3.69
ZT13	dsRNA	М	173.05	79.21	68.71	25.92
		SE	30.5	8.08	6.49	2.97
	ß-globin	М	295.96	114.79	138.5	17.88
		SE	13.01	12.15	9.07	1.67

Table B2

Analysis of Variance by Treatment for PER2 Immunoreactivity in the SCN

Source	df	F	η^2	p
ZT	1	71.30**	.86	.00
Treatment (T)	1	4.79*	.29	.05
ZT X T	1	24.43**	.67	.00
Error	12	(1188.04)		

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square errors. * p < .05. ** p < .01.

Anal	vsis of	f Variance l	by Treatment	for PER2 Immunor	reactivity in th	he BNST-ov
------	---------	--------------	--------------	------------------	------------------	------------

Source	df	F	η ²	p
ZT	1	38.46**	.76	.00
Treatment (T)	1	5.47*	.31	.04
ZT X T	1	3.60	.23	.08
Error	12	(282.39)		

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square errors. * p < .05. ** p < .01.

Table B4

Analysis of Variance by Treatment for PER2 Immunoreactivity in the CEA

Source	df	F	η²	p
ZT	1	59.14**	.83	.00
Treatment (T)	1	26.97**	.69	.00
ZT X T	1	19.76**	.62	.00
Error	12	(209.72)		

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square errors. ** p < .01.

Table B5

Source	df	F	η	p
ZT	1	93.75**	0.89	.00
Treatment (T)	1	15.89**	0.57	.00
ZT X T	1	30.25**	0.72	.00
Error	12	(112.79)		

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square errors. ** p < .01.

Area	Source	df	F	p
SCN	Between Groups	1	25.39**	.00
	Within Groups	6	(177.41)	
CEA	Between Groups	1	0.34	.58
	Within Groups	6	(170.65)	
DG	Between Groups	1	25.08**	.00
	Within Groups	6	(202.39)	

Simple Effects of Treatment on PER2 Immunoreactivity at ZT1

Note. Values enclosed in parentheses represent mean square errors. ** *p* < .01.

Table B7

Area	Source	df	F	p	
SCN	Between Groups	1	13.74*	.01	
	Within Groups	6	(2198.68)	
CEA	Between Groups	1	39.16**	.00	
	Within Groups	6	(248.79)		
DG	Between Groups	1	5.57	.06	
	Within Groups	6	(23.20)		

tivity at 7T13 DED'L 1. Effert CT. a. 4

Note. Values enclosed in parentheses represent mean square errors. p < .05. ** p < .01.

Area	Source	df	F	p
SCN	Between Groups	1	3.71	.10
	Within Groups	6	(1961.38)	
CEA	Between Groups	1	4.70	.07
	Within Groups	6	(234.99)	
DG	Between Groups	1	5.12	.06
	Within Groups	6	(192.75)	

Simple Effects of Perfusion Time on PER2 Immunoreactivity for dsRNA

Note. Values enclosed in parentheses represent mean square errors.

Table B9

Simple Effects of Perfusion Time on PER2 Immunoreactivity for B-globin

Area	Source	df	F	р
SCN	Between Groups	1	256.69**	.00
	Within Groups	6	(414.71)	
CEA	Between Groups	1	83.73**	.00
	Within Groups	6	(184.46)	
DG	Between Groups	1	395.87**	.00
	Within Groups	6	(32.84)	

Note. Values enclosed in parentheses represent mean square errors. ** p < .01.

Table C1

Perfusion	Treatment		SCN-sh	SCN-co	BNST-ov	CEA	DG
ZT1	dsRNA	М	98.92	149.54	30.46	40.92	4.34
		SE	5.98	11.29	5.87	5.59	0.88
	ß-globin	М	111.5	127.46	29.75	44.42	6.00
		SE	4.33	5.12	3.99	4.66	0.93
ZT13	dsRNA	М	84.21	48.09	19.04	20.88	2.00
		SE	2.59	4.67	2.69	3.34	0.19
	ß-globin	М	91.63	46.79	21.63	21.75	2.42
		SE	5.26	5.88	2.89	2.92	0.33

Table C2

Analysis of Variance by Perfusion Day for cFos Immunoreactivity in the SCN-sh

Source	df	F	η^2	p
ZT	1	13.46**	.53	.00
Treatment (T)	1	4.50	.27	.06
ZT X T	1	0.30	.02	.59
Error	12	(88.84)		

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square errors. ** p < .01.

Table C3

Analysis of Variance by Perfusion Day for cFos Immunoreactivity in the SCN-co

	Source	df	F	η ²	p
ZT		1	157.90**	.93	.00
Treatment (T)		1	2.60	.18	.13
ZT X Т	T	1	2.06	.15	.18
Error		12	(210.06)		

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square errors. ** p < .01.

Table C4

Analysis of Variance by Perfusion Day for cFos Immunoreactivity in the BNST-ov

Source	df	F	η^2	p
ZT	1	5.79*	.33	.03
Treatment (T)	1	0.05	.00	.82
ZT X T	1	0.16	.01	.69
Error	12	(65.91)		

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square errors. p < .05.

Table C5

Analysis of Variance by Perfusion Day for cFos Immunoreactivity in the CEA

Source	df	F	η ²	p
ZT	1	25.13**	.68	.00
Treatment (T)	1	0.26	.02	.62
ZT X T	1	0.10	.01	.76
Error	12	(72.59)		

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square errors.

** *p* < .01.

Table C6

	Source	df	F	η^2	p
ZT		1	19.67**	.62	.00
Treatment (T)		1	2.44	.17	.14
ZT X T		1	0.87	.07	.37
Error		12	(1.78)		

Analysis of Variance by Perfusion Day for cFos Immunoreactivity in the DG

Note. Value enclosed in parentheses represents mean square errors. ** p < .01.